


















C.   Architectural Significance 
 
Located at 304 E Jones Street, the Lewis-Joyner House is a fine example of the houses 
built by Julius Lewis & Company in Oakwood. From 1902 to 1933 it was the home of 
James Yadkin and Effie Rouse Joyner. 
 
Property Description: House 
 
This eclectic Victorian gable-front-and-wing two-story was built c. 1878 by Julius Lewis & 
Company, a construction and hardware firm  
 
The house has a front-gabled section with a two-story bay window on the front, and a 
side-gabled wing. In the corner formed by these two sections is a three-story tower with 
mansard roof. There is a shallow gabled projection in the middle of the left (east) side of 
the house. There is a rear-gabled section behind the front-gabled section. It was 
evidently originally of two stories with low ceilings, but is now of one story. The main roof 
and tower roof are sheathed in standing-seam terne metal, which is a reproduction of the 
original. This house has features of several architectural styles of the mid-Victorian 
period. From the Stick style comes the large diagonal brackets under the gable eaves 
and porch eaves, and the profusion of siding types, including lozenge shingles on the 
third story of the tower, board-and-batten siding in the gables, and diagonal siding over 
some windows. From the Second Empire style comes the mansard roof on the three-
story tower, with iron cresting. From the Italianate style comes the shallowly-pitched roof, 
the bracketed hoods over the windows, the hooded arched windows in the third story of 
the tower, and the small brackets under the tower eaves. There are lozenge-shaped attic 
vents in the gables.  
 
The one-story addition behind the wing was made by the Joyners between 1909 and 
1914. The front porch is supported by chamfered square-section posts with diagonal 
brackets and turned balusters. The porch was originally only in front of the side-gabled 
wing. Between 1909 and 1914 it was enlarged to wrap around the wing and around the 
one-story addition. In the 1950s the house was sheathed in asbestos siding. From 1963 
to 1983 it served as a rooming house. In 1984 it was restored by Joyner Associates, 
Peter Rumsey, principal in accordance with an approved Certificate of Appropriateness 
(COA). The asbestos siding was removed and a new standing-seam roof was installed, 
replicating the original. It has served as offices since that time. 
 
The significance of the Lewis-Joyner House is in large part due to its construction by the 
Julius Lewis & Company, a Raleigh construction and hardware firm. In partnership with 
Nick West, the company built approximately 11 houses in Oakwood between 1875 and 
1894.   
 
The eleven known houses built by Julius Lewis & Co. in Oakwood all still survive, but 
some of them have been much modified.  They include 409 Oakwood Ave. (Lewis-West-
Stronach House c.1877), 411 Oakwood Ave. (Lewis-West-Arnold House c.1877), 315 
North Boundary St. (Lewis-Fort House c.1877), 703 N. Bloodworth St. (Lewis-Clark 
House c.1878), 304 E. Jones St. (Lewis-Joyner House c.1878), 308 E. Jones St. (Lewis-
West-Simpson House c.1878), 312 E. Jones St. (Lewis-West-Uzzell House c.1878), 707 
N. Bloodworth (St. Lewis-Glenn House c.1880), 323 Pace St. Lewis-Lamb House 
c.1880), 408 N. East St. (Lewis-Barbee House c.1883), and 410 N. East St. Lewis-Earp 
House c.1887.  There is not a standard Julius Lewis house type.  Some of these houses 



are small and simple with the three on E. Jones St. being the largest. 304 E. Jones is the 
largest and most elaborate of all, featuring a standing-seam metal roof, a tower with a 
mansard roof with iron cresting, elaborate woodwork on the porch and around the 
windows, sections with shingles siding and board-and-batten siding, a two-story bay 
window, an arched double front door, and other fine details. 
 
Property Description: Site 
 
The Lewis-Joyner House is located on a .21-acre el shaped parcel at the southeast 
corner of N Person Street and E Jones Street.   
 
The house sits behind a brick wall that surrounds most of the property.  At present, the 
rear yard consists primarily of an asphalt paved parking area installed in 1990 per a 
1987 approved COA.   
 
D.  Historic Significance 
The property was owned by W.W. Vass in 1876.  From 1877 to 1894, it was owned as a 
partnership between Julius Lewis and Nick West.  It was sold to Julius and his wife, 
Abigail Lewis in 1894.  From 1901 to 1902, the property was owned by J.C. Niemyer.  
From 1902 to 1933 this was the home James Yadkin Joyner and his wife Effie Rouse.  
 
After the Joyner’s owned the property, it was purchased by the Methodist Orphanage in 
1945.  Nick Dombalis and D S Deese purchased the property in 1960.  The property 
transferred to Harold Holder in 1983 and later to Joyner Associates in that same year.  
After Joyner Associates, it was owned by the Jones Street Partnership from 1985 to 
1993.  In 1993, it was purchased by Barrett Kays.  In 1995, the property was purchased 
by Cued Speech Center, Inc.  This was a center for the deaf and hearing impaired.  In 
2006, the property was purchased by the current owners, JEME Partners, LLC and it 
currently used as offices for law firms and other small businesses. 
 
 
Bibliographic Information: 
James Yadkin Joyner was born in Davidson County, NC, on August 7, 1862, to John 
and Sallie Joyner; orphaned at two, he was raised by relatives in Lenoir County, 
attending school in LaGrange before entering UNC-Chapel Hill, Class of 1881; there he 
met future governor Charles B. Aycock (HOC) and educator Charles McIver, both with 
statues on Capitol Square. He also studied law and, after a brief stint as a teacher, took 
up the legal profession in Goldsboro. He returned to the classroom in 1889, first in 
Goldsboro then, in 1893, at State College, Greensboro.  In 1902 Governor Aycock 
named him to the office of State Superintendent of Public Instruction, to replace the 
deceased CSA Brigadier Thomas Toon (HOC). This made Joyner one of a remarkable 
triumvirate, with Aycock and McIver, that campaigned tirelessly for educational 
improvement, and improve it they did: within a decade or so nearly 3000 new schools 
had been built, and funding, enrollment, attendance, school terms and teacher salaries 
all increased, with high school instruction more funded and formalized.  By 1919, when 
Joyner stepped down from his post, school expenditures by the state totaled nearly 
$7,000,000. 
  
While in Raleigh, Dr. (LL.D, Chapel Hill) Joyner and his wife, Effie Rouse of LaGrange 
(d. 1930) lived in the eclectic Lewis House at 304 East Jones Street (now a law office).  
Mrs. Joyner was a former teacher and raised two sons with Mr. Joyner. They remained 



there after Mr. Joyner’s superintendency until 1932, initially as president of the Tobacco 
Growers Cooperative Association and, later, with Prudential Insurance, returning to 
Lenoir County as a farmer in his final years.  Joyner’s death in Kinston on January 24, 
1954, was front-page news; Governor William B. Umstead led a group of dignitaries at 
his funeral in the LaGrange Baptist Church, with burial in Oakwood Cemetery alongside 
Effie on January 27. “His contribution to the welfare of this State…cannot yet be truly 
measured,” eulogized Governor Umstead, but looking back from our own vantage point, 
Joyner’s legacy is clear. Landmarks carrying his name today include a school in Raleigh 
and a library at East Carolina University.    
 
Julius Lewis was born in Connecticut. He served in the Union army in the Civil War, then 
came to Raleigh after the war and opened a hardware store at the corner of Fayetteville 
St. and Martin St. He took in Nick West as a partner in the business prior to 1875. They 
built eleven houses in the Oakwood neighborhood. They were also the developers, 
meaning that they bought the land and built the houses on the land. Lewis and West 
dissolved their partnership in the properties in 1894; it appears that the construction part 
of the business ended at that time or before. Lewis sold the hardware store to West and 
others in c.1898. He then became president of the Raleigh Water Company, and was 
elected Chairman of the County Board of Commissioners.  
 
 
Additional Historical Significance: 
 
It is our belief that the Lewis-Joyner House has a great historical significance to the 
State of North Carolina due to its long time ownership by James Yadkin Joyner.  Born in 
1862, Joyner grew up in Lenoir County and attended LaGrange Academy, received a 
Bachelor degree in philosophy from The University of North Carolina and his law degree.  
Joyner is best known for his time as the North Carolina Superintendent of Public 
Instruction from 1902 until 1919.  During this time, he aggressively sought for increased 
school support and support for universal public education.  Along with the Governor 
Charles Aycock and Charles McIver, Joyner campaigned for consolidation of school 
districts, the adoption of local state taxes to support schools, the construction of 
improved school buildings and for lengthening of school terms.  During his tenure as 
superintendent, Joyner also improved the training for teachers and the availability of 
secondary public education.  To improve the training for teachers, Joyner encouraged 
the development of teachers’ colleges, a uniform state system of certification and better 
organization for the institute work.  Joyner also called for the development of public high 
school education for those preparing to attend college as well as those who were not.  
He emphasized the need for rural schools to provide agricultural and homemaker 
training.  Joyner also worked to increase the funds provided for black schools.  With all 
of his implementations, Joyner was fundamental changing the public attitude toward 
education.  For the first time, the State of North Carolina appropriated money to support 
secondary education and vocational training.  He defeated efforts to require the division 
of school funds by race.  He also developed an educational study commission to study 
the existing school systems and to assist in the planning for future development.  Near 
the end of his career as superintendent, Joyner was able to get voters to approve a 
constitutional amendment that require the minimum school term to increase from four 
months to six months.  With his significant impact on the public education system, J. Y. 
Joyner is a great asset to the State of North Carolina.  With his ownership of the home 
from 1902-1933, the Lewis-Joyner House was the residence for Dr. Joyner during his 
successful and influential time as the Superintendent of Public Education.   
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E.  Special Significance 
The c. 1878 Lewis-Joyner House is significant as an excellent example of one of the 
larger houses constructed in Oakwood by Julius Lewis & Company over a 20 year 
period and for its association with James Yadkin Joyner, former NC Superintendent of 
Public Education. 
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